
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2010-0002

	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	9
October 4, 2010
Paul Sommerville

Ken Quesnelle
Paula Conboy
	Presiding Member

Member

Member


EB-2010-0002
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998, S.O.1998, c.15, (Schedule B);

AND IN THE MATTER OF an application filed by Hydro One Networks Inc. under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 for an Order or Orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other charges for the transmission of electricity for 2011 and 2012.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Monday, October 4th, 2010,

commencing at 9:34 a.m.
--------------------

VOLUME 9
--------------------


BEFORE:

PAUL SOMMERVILLE

Presiding Member

KEN QUESNELLE


Member

PAULA CONBOY


Member
JENNIFER LEA
Board Counsel
MAUREEN HELT

HAROLD THIESSEN
Board Staff
DONALD ROGERS
Hydro One Networks Inc.
ANITA VARJACIC
GLENN ZACHER
Independent Electricity System

CARL BURRELL
Operator (IESO)

GEORGE VEGH
Bruce Power
DAVID CROCKER
Association of Major Power


Consumers of Ontario (AMPCO)

MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC)
RICHARD KING
Association of Power Producers of Ontario (APPro)

MARK RODGER
Hydro-Québec Energy Marketing

ROBERT WARREN
Consumers' Council of Canada (CCC)

ALSO PRESENT:

BRUCE LOUGHREN
Bruce Power

DAVID BUTTERS
Association of Power Producers of Ontario (APPro)

1--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.


1Preliminary Matters


3Appearances


5HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 6:  LOAD FORECAST, COST ALLOCATION AND RATE DESIGN, EXPORT TRANSMISSION SERVICE, RESUMED


     S. But, H. Andre, Previously Sworn;

D. Finkbeiner, Sworn; I. Shavel, Affirmed
     6Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers


     10Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker


     12Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose


     18Cross-Examination by Mr. Vegh


     41Cross-Examination by Mr. Rodger


     44Cross-Examination by Mr. King


47--- Recess taken at 10:44 a.m.


47--- On resuming at 11:17 a.m.


     47Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro


     84Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea


99Procedural Matters


102--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:41 p.m.




19EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  MATERIALS FOR USE ON CROSS-EXAMINATION OF PANEL 6 PREPARED BY BRUCE POWER.


49EXHIBIT NO. K9.2:  From EXHIBIT I, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 14, ATTACHMENT 1, TABLE ENTITLED:  "ONTARIO MONTHLY EXPORT VOLUMES."


61EXHIBIT NO. K9.3:  IESO MARKET OUTLOOKS, MARCH 2009 AND MAY 2009.




51UNDERTAKING NO. J9.1:  to RECONCILE $1.7 MILLION DISCREPANCY BETWEEN 2009 EXPORT VOLUMES AND REPORTED REVENUE.


67UNDERTAKING NO. J9.2:  TO PROVIDE DECREASE IN EXPORT VOLUMES DISTRIBUTED OVER THE PEAK AND OFF PEAK PERIODS.


81UNDERTAKING NO. J9.8:  TO PROVIDE 2008 AND 2009 NET REVENUES ARISING FROM CONGESTION MANAGEMENT THAT ACCRUED TO CUSTOMERS ON THE TRANSMISSION SYSTEM.


94UNDERTAKING NO. J9.4: TO PROVIDE FULLER EXPLANATION OF SECOND PART OF FOOTNOTE 9, PAGE 21 OF REPORT.


99UNDERTAKING NO. J9.5:  to CONFIRM WHETHER IESO HAS DONE ANALYSIS TO ESTIMATE COST-SHIFTING FOR INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS UNDER PROPOSED REGULATION, AND IF SO, PRODUCE IT.



NO


Monday, October 4, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Just as a preliminary matter, the Board has received, as I understand the parties to the proceeding have also received, a letter from counsel for CME withdrawing its request for release of a document related to total bill impact.

Unless there are further submissions on that subject, the Board does not intend to -- the Board intends to simply proceed with our scheduled hearing in the normal course, and will do so.

That appears in a letter that was filed on a confidential basis, but the Board does consider that this is a document that should be on the public record, and, once again, unless we hear submissions to the contrary, that is our intention, to treat it in that fashion.

MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, sir, your intention is to file the document in the hearing?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  To make this a public document -- no, the letter from counsel.

MR. ROGERS:  Oh, yes, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson's letter requesting withdrawal of the request --


MR. ROGERS:  Right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- that should go on the public record.  And what the Board would ask is that the total bill impact analysis that is referenced in that letter should be -- those parties who have actually received a copy of it should return to Ms. Helt over the next couple of days.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir, fine.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes, good morning.

Just as a matter of procedure, would you like us to refile that letter publicly, or can we leave it up to Board Staff to just, I guess, file it?

MS. HELT:  Board Staff would think it preferable that you file it publicly, that CME files it publicly.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I can likely take care of that this afternoon.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is convenient.  Thank you very much.

So unless there is anything more on that subject, we will proceed with the examination of panel 6.

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  I show up for the first time, and then I have two preliminary matters.

MR. DeROSE:  This is more of just a place holder.  On Friday there was a discussion.  Mr. Rogers put an objection to one of the questions that Mr. Thompson had put on the record last week.  You will recall that we -- it was deferred.  There was a possibility that we may have to address the issue.

Mr. Rogers and I have briefly discussed the fact that we should discuss it.  We haven't had a chance to talk about it off line, but I just wanted to raise the fact that we may have to deal with that at some point today or tomorrow, but we would like the time just to talk about it off line, if that is fine with you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Very good.  It appears as though the evidentiary portion of the proceeding may conclude as early as tomorrow afternoon.  That is conceivable.

And so any outstanding matter of that nature, of course, needs to be dealt with prior to that happening.

Just on that subject, it appears as though we will have argument-in-chief from the applicant either Thursday afternoon or Friday.  That is to be determined, I guess, in light of how things proceed today and tomorrow.

But it appears as though an argument on Thursday afternoon is a conceivable outcome.  Is that right, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  That is certainly satisfactory to me, sir, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.
Appearances:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, there are some new counsel and new persons who have not entered appearances, and I wonder if it might not be appropriate -- Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  I was just going to introduce -- you notice there is some new people at the counsel table with me, and I wanted to introduce Mr. Glenn Zacher, who is here on behalf of the IESO and is sort of joining me as co-counsel for this panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  With him is Mr. Carl Burrell, who is senior regulatory analyst with the IESO.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is George Vegh I am here on behalf of Bruce Power.  I believe Ms. Lea registered an appearance for us on the first day of the hearing, but I haven't been here in person.  I am assisted by, to my right, Mr. Chris Loughren, market regulatory affairs advisor at Bruce Power.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. King.

MR. KING:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Richard King appearing for APPrO.  I believe my colleague, Mr. Thacker, entered an appearance for me on the first day of the hearing.  With me is the president of APPrO, Mr. David Butters.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Butters.

MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Mark Rodger appearing as counsel for Hydro-Québec Energy Marketing, and, again, I was here on the opening day of the hearing.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Are there any -- Mr. Warren, you are reaching for the button.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, since you got some new ones, you can get rid of one the old ones.  I was here only with respect to the first matter, which is no longer an issue, and if I might be excused, I will go next door.  Someone described the proceeding next door as sexier, but that is not true.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, it couldn't be less sexier.

[Laughter]

MS. LEA:  Especially with that tie.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

I think there are witnesses to be sworn, Mr. Rogers, unless there are any other preliminary matters.

MR. ROGERS:  Just a couple, sir.  Thank you.  Yes.  First of all, let me advise the Board that further undertaking answers have been filed this morning:  Exhibit JX7.3, a confidential filing; J7.4, J8.3, J8.4, and, as well, an amended interrogatory answer on the part of the IESO, which I will address with the witnesses, Exhibit I-4-17, an interrogatory to VECC.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  Now, with that, can I introduce to the Board two new witnesses who have joined the panel?  And we called this panel 6B, I think, but Mr. Andre is still here.  He was sworn on Friday, and we have with us this morning Dr. Ira Shavel and Mr. Darren Finkbeiner on behalf of the IESO.  Might those two gentlemen be sworn, please -- sworn or affirmed?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 6:  LOAD FORECAST, COST ALLOCATION AND RATE DESIGN, EXPORT TRANSMISSION SERVICE, RESUMED
^
Henry Andre, Previously Sworn


Stan But, Previously Sworn


Darren Finkbeiner, Sworn


Ira Shavel, Affirmed

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  If I could briefly introduce the witnesses to the Board?  Let's start with you, Mr. Finkbeiner.  You, sir, are manager of market development with the IESO Independent Electricity System Operator?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  I see that your curriculum vitae has been filed in this proceeding as Exhibit A-19-1, attachment 5.  Is it a short but accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand, sir, that you are the manager of market development responsible for the market evolution department at the Ontario Independent Electricity System Operator?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You joined Ontario Hydro in 1987, and then moved on to the IESO?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is also correct.

MR. ROGERS:  I understand you have held positions as a NERC certified power system operator, as well as managing roles in change management, market and system analysis, and so on?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  This is all set out in your CV?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It is.

MR. ROGERS:  You are here this morning to respond to questions about the evidence which is found at Exhibit H1-5-2, attachment 1, which is a report on the export transmission service charge, I believe --


MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  -- on behalf of the IESO?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, sir.

MR. ROGERS:  Now, to your left is Dr. Ira Shavel.  Good morning, doctor.

DR. SHAVEL:  Good morning.

MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae has been filed in this proceeding as Exhibit K8.2, and it is a three-page document.  It is an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience, sir?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, I understand that you are presently vice president of the Charles River Associates consulting firm?

DR. SHAVEL:  That is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And that is the firm that prepared the report dated August 2009 dealing with the export transmission service charge we will be dealing with this morning?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  I imagine you were involved in its preparation, were you, sir?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, I was.

MR. ROGERS:  Just very briefly, I see from your curriculum vitae that you are a mathematician.  You have a degree in mathematics from the City College of New York?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.

MR. ROGERS:  A master's degree in mathematics?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  And you hold a Ph.D. in mathematics from the State University of New York at Stony Brook?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You have, as appears from your curriculum vitae, considerable experience of over 30 years in the energy industry, with concentration in economics and operation of the US electric power system, generation and transmission investment and environmental strategy.

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.

MR. ROGERS:  I see as well, sir, that you have testified many times before regulatory tribunals in the United States?

DR. SHAVEL:  I have several, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And have participated in a number of studies and analysis over the years dealing with topics similar to that which you will be addressing this morning?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You will be able to answer questions this morning dealing with the preparation of the study and the conclusions of the study?

DR. SHAVEL:  I will.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, Dr. Shavel.

The witnesses are available for examination, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

Have counsel arranged an order for cross-examination?

MR. CROCKER:  I think, Mr. Chair, I am going first, and I will be very quick.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Forgive me.  One thing I forgot to do, if I could just -- before we start, it might help.

Dr. Shavel, perhaps you can help us with this.

There was an amended interrogatory answer filed this morning as I-4-17.

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Can one of you gentlemen just summarize for us what the change is and why it was necessary?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I can do that.

The changes in that response were to clarify a few elements in sub (a), where we have added some language to clarify that the current SBG forecast on the horizon and that we don't have data that supports the amount or time expected for 2015 SBG events.

So the latter part of Exhibit A, starting at page 1 of 2, is an addition, given the current SBG, to the end of that sentence, and some other small clarifying points in that interrogatory.

MR. ROGERS:  All right, sir, thank you very much.

Thank you.  I'm sorry, Mr. Crocker.  Please proceed.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Crocker?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, before I ask questions of this panel - as I say, I will be very brief - I just wanted to address the scheduling issue that began today.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sure.

MR. CROCKER:  AMPCO's witnesses are prepared to give evidence tomorrow, will be here tomorrow.  Three of them are coming from out of town.

I intend to examine them very briefly in-chief.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's our practice.

MR. CROCKER:  But it will be brief.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

I would like to pick up something that I began with Mr. Andre last day, and perhaps, Mr. Finkbeiner, I can address this to you.

To the best of your knowledge, has there been any discussion at the IESO or has any thought been given to the implementation of the AMPCO rate design, should that rate design be endorsed or adopted by the Board?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I am not aware of what type of discussion that has or hasn't been had on that particular issue.

MR. CROCKER:  Are you aware of the announcement of the government with respect to changes to the global adjustment?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, I am.

MR. CROCKER:  Have you been involved with discussions concerning the implementation of any changes to rate design or any changes that would have to be undertaken by the IESO to implement changes to the global adjustment?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I personally have not, no.

MR. CROCKER:  Are you aware whether discussions have taken place?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  On the matter of the global adjustment, I am aware of that, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But once again, you are not aware of what those discussions might have been?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Not in detail, no.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  My second question is with respect to the export tariff, second series of questions.  There won't be very many.

If there are changes made to the -- or to the way in which the export tariff is treated, would it be possible for there to be a different tariff, depending on whether -- depending on whether we are at peak or off-peak, in terms of electricity use?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, it is technically possible.  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  I have no further questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.

Mr. DeRose?

MR. CROCKER:  May I be excused, Mr. Chairman?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Certainly.  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  In no one objects, I just have a few clarification questions.  And then I will excuse myself to go to the OPG hearing as well.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Vince DeRose.  I am here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

I would like to seek some clarification on an issue which came up last week, and I don't think that you have to pull it up, but just for reference, volume 8 of the transcript, page 149.

Mr. Andre was asked some questions or a question about the effect of surplus base load generation on export revenues.

And Mr. Andre, first of all, indicated that there could be an effect on export revenues, or that surplus base load generation, or SBG, could have an impact on export revenues.  The other members of the panel, he did indicate that you would have full knowledge of that.

So first of all, is there an impact on export revenues that flows from SBG?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I am not sure of the full context of the discussion, but if you were to look at exporting and how times of surplus would in some cases make it more attractive to export, then it could have a change in volume.

So for example, if Ontario is faced with a surplus and our neighbours are not faced with a similar surplus, then it becomes an attractive trade to make happen, with arbitrage potential to it, and with every megawatt of export there is an export tariff charged.

So to the extent that our surplus is coincident with somebody else's desire to take that surplus power, then yes, it could have revenue implications in that regard.

MR. DeROSE:  And do you take that into consideration in your forecasts?

MR. FINKBEINER:  In the forecasts for the amount of exports we expect?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, both in your forecast for SBG and your forecast for exports.

MR. FINKBEINER:  In our forecast for exports, we typically use historical assessments and try and modify it for certain anticipated changes that we could see coming in the marketplace, things like outages that might have a change, step change in pricing, these sorts of things.

MR. DeROSE:  Mm-hmmm.

MR. FINKBEINER:  So we will take that into account when we are looking at export forecasting, for the sake of our fees case, for example.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in terms of your forecast for SBG?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Forecast for SBG is primarily based on two major factors.  One is just domestic generation available and domestic load to be served.  Exporting is just a tool to help manage the amount of that surplus that is there.

And exporting can remove surplus as a result of taking that surplus to another jurisdiction.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But I take it that when you are forecasting your exports –- or, sorry, when you are forecasting your SBG, you do not include an element that you are going to assume that you are going to be able to export some of it.  That is something that if you can do it, it is a positive outcome, but you do not include that in your SBG forecast?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's correct.  Because of the nature of exporting, it is not one that you can bank on with regular certainty.  So as far as our SBG or surplus forecasting, we assume no exports.  And then when exports do arrive, they do mitigate the surplus condition.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And now if I can just ask one question on the revised interrogatory that you explained this morning.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Okay.

MR. DeROSE:  This is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 17, page 1 of 2.

And so did I understand right that your forecast does not go to 2015?  Is that...

MR. FINKBEINER:  As far as our formal forecasting, we are looking at 18-month-out type forecasts.  So we do not do any detailed forecasting of surplus going out to 2015.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Would you -- so as of today, would you be into, for instance, 2011, 2012?  Where are you looking out today?

MR. FINKBEINER:  End of 2011, by memory.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And is my understanding right that your SBG forecasts beyond 2009 -- so 2010, 2011, I guess, as far as you are going out -- you're forecasting greater SBG than historically you have experienced?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That would be a fair statement, depending on the historical reference.  If you are looking from 2007, our expectation of SBG was a lot smaller than what it is today.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And are you able to, at a high level, describe what the drivers are for that increase?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Absolutely.

Two of the main factors around the uncertainty of surplus over the last few years is, one, the deterioration of domestic load in Ontario, taking a hit from the economy.  Obviously, we have to maintain supply and demand balance, and when the demand is reduced as a result of factors such as the economy, it makes it less domestic load to supply.

Also, in looking at the forecast going forward, we look at the generation supply mix, and at this point in time we have nuclear performance, base load hydroelectric facilities and the Green Energy Act investment, that we expect over time to increase the amount of generation that contributes to surplus.

MR. DeROSE:  And are you able to -- on this latter part, the generation mix, are you able to quantify what the incremental increase in SBG is that you are forecasting, for instance, on a terawatt basis?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It is actually hard to quantify with great accuracy, because of the moving parts in that equation.  One is the load.  Does the load expect a rebound?

The other components, I mentioned hydraulic facilities.  It will depend a great deal on what type of hydraulic year you are going to have.  Are you going to have a wet season or a dry season?  They contribute to the amount of surplus that you have.  Obviously if you are in drought, you have less hydroelectric facilities to supply domestic load.

Nuclear performance, outage plans, those types of elements certainly play a factor in the amount of surplus.

Then, finally, with the Green Energy Act, the feed-in tariff is an open tariff, and we don't know specifically the amount of megawatts that will be invested in response to the Green Energy Act, nor do we know, with great certainty, the type of capacity factor a wind farm might have year over year.

So it is always an estimation.  We use averages and norms looking back historically and inferring certain assumptions into our forecasts.

MR. DeROSE:  I guess when you described the first three areas, so the economic conditions, the level of the rivers, the temperature and the nuclear, where you are in nuclear refurbishment and outages, that seems to me something you have been dealing with for a long time.  It is not new.

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  So when you talk about looking at historical norms, it makes sense to me you can look back to look to the future?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  But when you talk about the feed-in tariff, this is something that is new?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Absolutely.

MR. DeROSE:  And would you -- have you not developed some sort of an estimate or a place holder of what you think at the moment, on the information you have, which might not be perfect, what you have deemed that to be for forecasting purposes?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  We are planning with a working assumption of about 6,000 megawatts or more of green energy through the FIT over the next two to three years.

MR. DeROSE:  And, now, what would -- 6,000 megawatts, what does that translate into forecast SBG?

MR. FINKBEINER:  For our capacity assessments, for wind as an example, we use a summer rating of approximately 10 percent, and a winter rating of approximately 30 percent.  So for every 1,000 megawatts of wind, we are using 100 or 300 megawatts of capacity.

The problem with those types of analysis is they're averaging norms.  They don't look at the extremes.  We have seen -- with about 1,100 megawatts of wind currently installed, we have seen operation of 90-plus percent.  Sometimes for extended periods we will see -- I believe there was three days where we had about 70 percent output from these facilities.  We have seen other periods where it is zero or low percentages of contribution for energy.

Given that our planning uses these averaging in these simplified historical models, it is not a good indicator of specific SBG events, and so when we look at the forecasts we are using the averages that we have spoken about to come up with those forecasts, and they are not indicative of the potential extremes you could see from these variable resource types.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So is it fair to say that your forecasts, when it comes to that fourth element of the feed-in tariff, are -- I am getting the impression that you are not terribly confident with your forecasts of that particular element.  Is that a fair statement?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There is a lot of variability to it, yes, that is correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Vegh?

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Vegh:

MR. VEGH:  Good morning, panel.  My name is George Vegh.  I am going to ask you some questions on behalf of Bruce Power.  And just for some context, Bruce Power operates the Bruce nuclear generating station, and, as you know, panel, nuclear generation is a source of base load generation and, therefore, Bruce Power is interested in any potential rate design changes that may increase events of surplus base load generation.

So, Mr. Shavel, I am going to start with you.  I wanted to ask you some questions about your report, and in doing so, I am going to turn to that report.  It is at Exhibit H1, tab 5, schedule 2, appendix A.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just before you get too far into it, Mr. Vegh, does this require an exhibit number?

MR. VEGH:  I am just about to introduce it.  Yes, I would just about to introduce these, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Oh, sorry.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  I will also be referring to some materials we filed on Friday -- we filed electronically on Friday.  The materials are called, "Materials for use on Cross-Examination of Panel 6".  I have prepared some hard copies for the witness panel and the Board Panel this morning.

I wonder if we could mark this as an exhibit or for identification purposes.

MS. LEA:  K9.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  MATERIALS FOR USE ON CROSS-EXAMINATION OF PANEL 6 PREPARED BY BRUCE POWER.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  So, Mr. Shavel, do you have your report in front of you?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  You are referring to the July 30th, 2009 report?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

DR. SHAVEL:  Okay.  Yes, I do.

MR. VEGH:  I am going to have some questions and conduct some cross-examination on this report, but just to clarify upfront, Bruce is not critical of this report, necessarily.  We just want to specify what this report does and does not do, and get some clarification around some of the assumptions that you relied upon in this report.

And in terms of what this report does, I would like you to turn to page 2.  It sets out the study objectives?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And if I could just list the ones identified in the first bullet point, the report says that the objectives are to assess and analyze the potential incremental impact of each export transmission service tariff option with respect to hourly energy price, export revenues, export and import volumes and market efficiency.

So really the purpose of the report was to create data for each of these parameters?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right, given a set of export tariffs, both Ontario and neighbours.

MR. VEGH:  So it really was a quantitative analysis that you carried out?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And so the plan between CRA and the IESO, if I understand it, is that CRA would carry out the analysis, provide data to the IESO, and then the IESO would rely upon that data to exercise its judgment and make a recommendation to the OEB on whether or not there should be a change to the tariff.  Is that fair?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's fair.

MR. VEGH:  And as I read page 2 in your study objectives, you were not asked for your opinion on whether there should be a change to the tariff; is that right?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.  We were not.

MR. VEGH:  And you set out your general conclusions at page 3.  I will address some of these conclusions in detail in a moment, but consistent with your mandate, when I looked at your conclusions, you did not provide an opinion on whether there should be a change to the tariff; right?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  Now, again, looking at the areas where you provided data, those were set out at page 2, and I will just repeat them:  Impacts on HOEP, export revenues, export and import volumes and market efficiency.

These parameters were provided to you by the IESO?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.

MR. VEGH:  And in measuring the impact of these parameters, you were not engaged in the process of applying principles of public utility rate design?

DR. SHAVEL:  No.  We were looking purely at the economics.

MR. VEGH:  And, in fact, when I look at your résumé, your expertise appears to be more in the area of economics of power systems and not really public utility rates design; is that fair?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  So you are not a rates guy?

DR. SHAVEL:  I am not a rates guy.

MR. VEGH:  And your proposal is not a proposal on rate design?

DR. SHAVEL:  It is not.

MR. VEGH:  So you are not an expert on rate design.  You are not representing to be one, but I will just ask you to make an assumption of a principle of public utility rate design.

And I want you to assume, for the purposes of the following discussion, that cost causality is an appropriate principle of public utilities rate design.  Okay?

DR. SHAVEL:  Okay.

MR. VEGH:  And to define that, I want you to assume that cost causality means that a customer who causes a cost to be incurred by the system should pay for that cost.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, okay.

MR. VEGH:  Now, you didn't use that principle in your criteria, but if we applied that principle to the ETS issue, then exporters would be responsible for the costs of the system that were incurred for the purposes of exporting power.

Does that make sense?

DR. SHAVEL:  That makes sense, but I might qualify that to say the exporters should be responsible perhaps for -- since the system is already built -- the variable cost and the additional variable cost.

MR. VEGH:  So you would refine that cost causality principle to be restricted to variable costs?  So if exporters cause variable costs --


DR. SHAVEL:  As you said, Mr. Vegh, this is really not my area of expertise.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  To just perhaps to finish on this point, you did not review what the variable costs were?

DR. SHAVEL:  No, I did not.

MR. VEGH:  So those costs did not have any impact on your analysis?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.  

MR. VEGH:  So the no principles of cost causality.  Let's leave aside the rates, which you did not address, and look at some of the points you did address.

So first you considered some of the impacts of changing the tariff from $1 to $5 per kilowatt-hour.  And at page 3 you state your conclusion, and the first bullet point, that increasing the tariff would increase consumer surplus, right?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And one reason that it would increase consumer surplus is that increasing the tariff would reduce external demand and reduce HOEP?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, exactly.

MR. VEGH:  And when you talk about the reduction of HOEP, you are talking about the wholesale energy market charge?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.

MR. VEGH:  And so I would like now to address the impact of reducing HOEP on consumers.

You appreciate that HOEP is one component of the energy charges that customers receive on their bill in Ontario?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.  As it is everywhere else generally, yes.

MR. VEGH:  And there are other components of the energy charge?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And one particular energy charge that is in addition to the HOEP is the global adjustment.  Are you aware of that?

DR. SHAVEL:  I have heard the term.  I am not aware of how that actually operates.

MR. VEGH:  All right.  So I will ask you some questions about global adjustment, and if you -- if you feel you are not comfortable in answering them, Mr. Finkbeiner is beside you and he might want to interject.

So the issue of global adjustment is addressed in the materials marked at Exhibit K9.1.  At tab 1, there is an IESO report entitled:  "Effective pricing in Ontario's hybrid electricity market."

This report is about a year old now, so it is a little bit out of date, but I think the basic concepts are still valuable.

Do you have a copy of that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, we do.

MR. VEGH:  Now, the global adjustment, which, as we have discussed, is in addition to the HOEP, that global adjustment reflects the costs of OPA contracts, plus OPG-regulated rates; is that correct?

MR. FINKBEINER:  As I understand it, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Now, Mr. Shavel, in your report, when you looked at the cost to customers, you did not address global adjustment, just HOEP, right?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.

MR. VEGH:  So I would like you to go to page 9 of the IESO report that we have just identified at tab 1 of Exhibit K9.1.

And at page 9, there is the statement that -- confirming what we have just discussed.  And it notes that there is an inverse relationship between global adjustment and HOEP.  You see that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, we do.

MR. VEGH:  And so as HOEP goes down, generally global adjustment goes up?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. VEGH:  So if you turn back, then, to table -- to page 5 in the same materials, this phenomena is illustrated in a more graphic way, the relationship between HOEP and global adjustment.

And in the period from -- on the current period particularly, starting in April '09, it appears that global adjustment is on many occasions higher than HOEP; is that correct?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. VEGH:  And that trend is expected to grow.  Would you agree with that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I would feel it dangerous to speculate on which direction price is going, at a hearing such as this.  But if history is any indicator of the future, then you could expect that to continue.

MR. VEGH:  It is difficult to predict price, but we know that global adjustment pays for OPA contracts, including the feed-in tariff contracts.

MR. FINKBEINER:  This is true, but as you've noted, the relationship between global adjustment and HOEP, if the price were to go up, global adjustment will go down.

So for every increase in HOEP, there is a decrease in global adjustment, where they could balance or one overwhelm the other.

So it will depend on conditions at a specific instant in time, the price effects and so on.

So again, I wouldn't want to speculate that it would stay there, but based on history, it appears that it could be.

MR. VEGH:  Right.  So it is not an unreasonable future scenario where global adjustment continues to be larger than HOEP?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It is not unreasonable.

MR. VEGH:  And this picture at page 5 does play out the inverse relationship, right?  As HOEP goes down, there is a pretty clear relationship that global adjustment goes up?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Almost with exact symmetry, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  Now, the other thing that I take away from the picture at page 5 here is we have three lines here.  We have the HOEP line in the blue, we have the global adjustment line in the red, and then we have this black line on top called the "stable all-in energy charge."

Now, is that the combination of global adjustment and HOEP?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, it is.

MR. VEGH:  So we talked about the relationship between global adjustment and HOEP, and when we look at the total costs, at least for the period in this graph it appears when we look around July '09, it looks at – while -- when HOEP is at its lowest, and therefore global adjustment is at its highest, the all-in energy charge, which is a charge paid for by consumers, is also at its highest?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I am not sure I would go fully to that -- to any particular conclusion of that.

There are dynamics in the market that are changing around the number of resources under global adjustment as they come on line.

I think it is coincidental, perhaps.  If you look closer to January, we are almost at $60 dollars, as well, where global adjustment is just on its rise.

I am not quite sure sort of what observations you would take from the fact that global adjustment is at its highest, that that all-in price is at its highest.

MR. VEGH:  Is it fair to say, from the period spring of '09 to the summer of '09, that the total energy cost tends to follow the same, roughly the same shape as the global adjustment cost?

MR. FINKBEINER:  If you look -- looking just at these lines, I think you could say that.  I am not sure if there is any relationship that you could draw a conclusion from as a result.

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  But I guess you could say that the fact that HOEP is low at any given time doesn't mean that the total energy cost is low?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That, you can in fact say.

MR. VEGH:  And at times, a lower HOEP can result in a higher global adjustment and a higher overall cost?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. VEGH:  Now, Mr. Shavel, going back to you, one of the reasons you say that there may be a lower HOEP is because there could be a reduction in exports?

DR. SHAVEL:  Under option 2 or... yes, that's right.

MR. VEGH:  So a reduction in exports may lead to a lower HOEP.  We know that a lower HOEP may lead to a higher GA or global adjustment.  And it is also possible that with a lower HOEP, you could have a higher total cost to the customer?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's correct. 

MR. VEGH:  And so I would like to look at the change in total exports that you modelled and some the assumptions under that change.

Now, you say in your evidence, Mr. Shavel, at page 30 -- sorry, I might have the page wrong.  At page 30 you say in your evidence that, you are forecasting change in total exports from status quo.  You say that in 2010 that could lead to a drop of 35 percent of exports, if we had the change of the transmission tariff from one dollar to $5?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  So I want to understand what went into that 35 percent figure, in terms of the assumptions that were relied upon to lead to that figure and how changes to those assumptions may have an impact on that 35 percent figure.

And so one of the key assumptions, in terms of the exports from Ontario, is the price of electricity in the jurisdictions to which power is exported.

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  So if those jurisdictions face higher prices than Ontario, there will be higher exports, more exports?

DR. SHAVEL:  If Ontario doesn't change at the same time and those -- yes, subject to the transmission lines -- the lines being available to move power, you would expect it to move in that direction.

MR. VEGH:  All right.  So we're talking about the price differential?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  So as the price differential shrinks, all things being equal, there will be lower exports?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  Now, the main jurisdiction that you identify that Ontario would export to is New York?

DR. SHAVEL:  Correct.

MR. VEGH:  And the marginal electricity supply in New York is natural gas?

DR. SHAVEL:  For a fair number of the hours of the year in New York, it is natural gas, yes.

MR. VEGH:  So is it fair to say that as natural gas prices increase, then the cost of electricity in New York will also increase?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.

MR. VEGH:  And, again, that would lead, all things being equal, to an increase in exports from Ontario?

DR. SHAVEL:  All things being equal, assuming -- yes.  Subject to the qualifications I just gave, yes.

MR. VEGH:  And, conversely, if gas prices decrease, subject to the same qualifications, then exports from Ontario will go down?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  Now, so I want to look at the gas prices that your model assumed, and those gas prices are at page 14.  And I believe your gas prices are based on a forecast carried out in April 2009?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, they are.

MR. VEGH:  And you see at that time you had gas prices on a pretty steep curve.  Would you agree that there have been significant downward levels of gas price forecasts since that time?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And it is difficult to quantify that exactly, but to just put some general directional -- and size of that decrease, I would like to take you to the Energy Information Administration Annual Energy Outlooks, because I see that that was one of the sources relied upon for your forecast?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And so at tabs 2 and 3 of Exhibit K9.1 are excerpts from the EIA - Annual Energy Outlook for 2009, which is at tab 2, 2010, which is at tab 3.

And when you look at the 2009 forecast, which is one of the inputs into your materials - the 2009 is at tab 2 - you see at figure 6.4 for 2009 forecasted Henry Hub Spot market price at roughly between six and eight dollars for the period out to 2020?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  Then when you go over to tab 3, you have the 2010 forecast, and instead of -- that is, sorry, figure 69.

DR. SHAVEL:  Mm-hmm.

MR. VEGH:  Again, I am giving you pretty rough estimates here, but instead of a range of six to eight dollars that we've looked at, the range tends to be around four to six, perhaps a little bit over six?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  So that is a material decrease in the forecasted price of gas?

DR. SHAVEL:  It is, and if I can just add, the forecast that we used was not the one behind tab 2.  Because gas prices were changing, the forecasts -- and there were events going on.  EIA had an April update, which had lower gas prices than the March.  So I can't tell you the exact relationship, but it was lower than this.  This is not the one we used.

MR. VEGH:  But, generally, there has been a material drop in the forecasted price of gas since the time of your study?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, there has.

MR. VEGH:  And to just tie this back up again, this reduced cost of gas should lead to an incremental reduction of the forecasted price of electricity in New York?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And this will lead to, all things being equal, a reduction in exports from what you had forecasted?

DR. SHAVEL:  Assuming it is not gas on the margin versus gas on the margin in both jurisdictions, that's correct.

MR. VEGH:  Well, this was the price assumption you used in your analysis.  Is it fair to say that if you were to do your analysis today, you would have a lower forecasted amount of exports in New York State based on the drops in the forecasted price of gas?

DR. SHAVEL:  I really can't say that, because it would change the price in Ontario, as well.  And, as I said, to the extent that the transmission lines were full in our model, it wouldn't -- you know, depending on where the limits were, it wouldn't necessarily change.

MR. VEGH:  All right.  Well, holding those factors constant, I thought I heard you say that the price of electricity in New York would have a material impact on the amount of forecast, and a reduction in that price would have an increase in forecast -- sorry, a reduction in that price would lead to less exports from Ontario?

DR. SHAVEL:  Assuming that the Ontario price didn't move basically in lock-step, because it was gas on gas, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Right.  So if Ontario had a different marginal resource, such as coal?

DR. SHAVEL:  That didn't follow the gas price, that's correct.

MR. VEGH:  Right.  Now, one area that is addressed by the IESO, but is not addressed in your evidence, is the issue of surplus base load generation; is that correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And the IESO had addressed surplus base load and your report didn't, so I wanted to ask you to comment on their concerns with respect to base load.

But maybe just to address a couple of points to see how your analysis may be relevant to that issue, first of all, in terms of your analysis, I take it that the model that you used could not actually address surplus base load; is that correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  Not in a -- not in a very accurate way, but it could address it in a coarse way, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Well, I understand a surplus base load event takes place on an hour-by-hour basis, and your model does not operate on an hourly basis?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, that's right.

MR. VEGH:  So your model would not be refined enough to address this issue on an hourly basis?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. VEGH:  Another assumption that you relied upon in your model is the assumption of demand, and that is addressed at page 8 of your report?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, I said page 8.  I should have said page 9.

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  And in terms of Ontario load, you had forecasted a load for 2010 of 159 terawatt hours?

DR. SHAVEL:  Actually, we didn't forecast the load.  It was provided by the IESO.

MR. VEGH:  Sorry, you relied --


DR. SHAVEL:  I relied on the IESO.

MR. VEGH:  The model used a load --


DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. VEGH:  And demand has been significantly lower since then.  Perhaps, Mr. Finkbeiner, you can address that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, it has been.  That is correct.

MR. VEGH:  Now, do you have a current forecast on what 2010 electricity demand is in Ontario? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  Not with me, no. 

MR. VEGH:  Can you provide a general estimate? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  If you look at our outlooks, we are probably in the range of 144, 145 terawatt-hours. 

MR. VEGH:  And so that is a material reduction, then, in forecasted demand?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, it is. 

MR. VEGH:  And this reduction in forecasted demand would lead to a higher frequency of surplus base load generation events than resulted from an analysis carried out in 2009?

MR. FINKBEINER:  All else being equal, yes, it would.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  Just one moment, please, if I may.

I have some questions for you, Mr. Andre. 

MR. ANDRE:  Yes. 

MR. VEGH:  I would like to understand this figure of $5.00 a kilowatt-hour and where it came from, and I think it is addressed in your evidence at Exhibit H1, tab 5, schedule 2, page 5, footnote 4. 

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I see that. 

MR. VEGH:  And in that footnote, you say you came to this $5 figure effectively by taking the average network revenue and divided it by network consumption?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, by the annual provincial energy consumption.  Yes.

MR. VEGH:  So the result of that average was $5 a kilowatt-hour?

MR. ANDRE:  Approximately, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Now, your load customers don't actually pay that rate, right?  That is just an average of what they pay?

MR. ANDRE:  Our network customers -- no, that's right.  Yes.  Our network customers don't pay five megawatts -- dollars per hour.

MR. VEGH:  They pay a rate that is approved by the Board?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  And it is based on peak -- it is related to peak demand, either non-coincident peak or coincident peak.  There is a higher-of clause.

MR. VEGH:  Right.  So that is based on principles of rate design?

MR. ANDRE:  Correct. 

MR. VEGH:  And so currently Ontario domestic load pays for the embedded costs of the network?  That is, load pays for the network?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, they do.

MR. VEGH:  And this is because the system is built to meet domestic load requirements? 

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Over time, it has been built to meet the demands of load customers, yes.

MR. VEGH:  And it is not designed for the purposes of serving exports? 

MR. ANDRE:  There are certain facilities, interconnection facilities that are specifically designed for import and export purposes, I guess, but the bulk of the network, correct, is designed to serve load.

MR. VEGH:  Yes.  And we are talking about the network facilities when we look at the $5 figure; it is the cost of using the network, not those specific facilities built for imports or exports?

MR. ANDRE:  Correct.  But the interconnection facilities are part of the network system.

So they are included, the cost of those facilities are included in the network pool of charges. 

MR. VEGH:  Right.  But this $5 figure is not based on the cost of those interconnection facilities; it is based on the costs of the entire network?

MR. ANDRE:  Right.  On an average, on a per-megawatt-hour basis, correct.

MR. VEGH:  And you mentioned that there are some interconnection facilities that are, you know, built for imports and exports.  Is it fair to say that those facilities are designed to provide sufficient support to meet Ontario domestic load requirements?

MR. ANDRE:  I am not a system planner, but that is my understanding, that it is for reliability purposes, to be able to access load in neighbouring jurisdictions, should we need it, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Well, to act as load in neighbouring jurisdictions, should we need it, but to access supply in neighbouring jurisdictions, should we need it?

MR. ANDRE:  Sorry.  Supply, yes.  I misspoke. 

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  So again, it is built for the purposes of domestic load?

MR. ANDRE:  Again, I am not a planner, but that is my understanding. 

MR. VEGH:  Okay.  And if someone at Hydro One disagrees with you or wants to correct the record, perhaps they could address that in an undertaking.  But we could take your answer as correct?

MR. ANDRE:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Subject to check.  So the capacity is used for export -- is used for exports, but it is not really built for exports; is that fair?

MR. ANDRE:  Its primary purpose, yes, I would say that is fair.  But again, that would be subject to check.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  And the use of that capacity for exports, that does not lead to discrete O&M expenditures; is that fair? 

MR. ANDRE:  We don't track O&M expenditures specifically associated with interconnection facilities.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. VEGH:  So is it fair to say that exports do not cause the embedded costs of the system in a way that domestic load causes the embedded cost of the system?

MR. ANDRE:  When you say "cause the embedded costs" I mean, the -- there is embedded costs in having the network system available, and I guess exports make use of that embedded system to some extent, as do existing load customers in the province.

MR. VEGH:  Well, the exports make use of the system, or they make use of network capacity, but that capacity would exist anyway, wouldn't it?  To serve the Ontario load?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  The existing system has a certain level of available capacity. 

MR. VEGH:  I'm sorry, I know the embedded system has available capacity.  This is an important point, though. 

The exports make use of existing system capacity, but that capacity would exist anyway, wouldn't it?  To serve domestic load?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Yes, that capacity would exist anyway.

MR. VEGH:  So revenues from exports that go to domestic loads to offset the rates that domestic loads would otherwise pay?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, they do. 

MR. VEGH:  And in a sense, this is like using excess assets for the benefit of load customers?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  The export revenues have a benefit to load customers. 

MR. VEGH:  I would like to, Mr. Finkbeiner, turn to you for a couple of concluding questions. 

I would like you to turn to page 10 of your report.  Sorry, your report being Exhibit H1, tab 5, schedule 2, attachment 1, the August 2009 recommendation of an appropriate ETS charge.

And I am going to take you to table 2.  This is where you set out the summary of selection principles comparison?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes. 

MR. VEGH:  And I won't go through each column with you.  I did just want to address the one column that is in table 2 headed:  "Fair and equitable."

MR. FINKBEINER:  Okay.

MR. VEGH:  You have a footnote to that column that identifies what you mean by "fair and equitable" and you use a term called the "user-pay principle"?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes. 

MR. VEGH:  And by user-pay, you are referring, again, to this average cost of $5 a kilowatt-hour? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yeah.  That would be fair.

MR. VEGH:  So this user-pay principle, as you've defined it, basically requires every customer to pay the average cost?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct, as it is defined there.

MR. VEGH:  And I haven't seen that term used in any rate design textbook.  So correct me if I am wrong, but this is not a principle of rate design, is it?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I am not aware whether it is or isn't.  It was taken from earlier Hydro One proceedings with that type of definition.

I am not an expert in rate design.  I don't know what would be included in that definition, or without.

MR. VEGH:  So all you are saying here is if you pay above the average cost -- if someone is paying above the average cost or below the average cost, that payment doesn't meet the fair and equitable standard?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is simply what we are saying, yes.

MR. VEGH:  Okay, thank you.

Thank you.  Those are my questions, panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.  Mr. Rodger, are you ready?

MR. RODGER:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rodger:

MR. RODGER:  Panel, my name is Mark Rodger, and I am here on behalf of Hydro-Québec Energy Marketing this morning.  And I just have a very few questions, given the discussion that has gone on with my friends.

But I did want to ask - start with you, Mr. Shavel - just one clarifying issue.  When you described to my friend that your organization's focus on this report was purely economics, I take part of that answer to mean that specifically you didn't assess, for example, reliability considerations; is that correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  You also didn't assess system operability considerations?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct, as well.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Finkbeiner, you took my friend through the qualitative review that the IESO staff brought to this, and you talked about, when looking at your option 2, how you considered, among other things, legal and regulatory impediments, operational challenges, reliability, and so on.

And even though staff arrived at this $5 a megawatt-hour as the estimate, it was, at the end of the day, IESO management's decision not to recommend the $5 as a go-forward rate for the export tariff service rate; is that correct?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  And the factors that you mentioned earlier this morning, the load deterioration, the transformation of Ontario's resource mix, particularly you talked about variable energy, wind.

Right now, you are looking at your forecast of how much you think, for example, wind is going to be on the system.  At what point in the future -- or how much experience do you think the IESO is going to need before it can really understand what the impact of this new -- in your words, this new reality of the Green Energy Act will have on Ontario and will really get a sense of the things like the operational and reliability implications?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There is probably a number of key milestones, if you will, along the way before we can sort of do another analysis or assessment of whether or not this new reality is operable and reliable.  Some of the key decisions I am talking to are things like we've got a 14,000 megawatt nuclear assumption that still hasn't been settled in the province of Ontario, demand response to the economic bounce-back.

How much is coming from the Green Energy Act?  Is it really the six or more thousand megawatts that we expect, or is it something more, something less?

Then we also have to put in place the tools, systems and processes to manage this new resource mix.

So to answer the question specifically, I really don't have a good time line as to when we would be in a good position to do that analysis.

There are a number of unanswered questions.  Whenever you do that analysis, whatever unanswered questions remain, they become just another assumption in that analysis.

So even if you were to start one today, tomorrow, next year, whatever, whatever outstanding assumptions will just be that.  They're another qualitative assumption that you have had to make in some broader assessment.

MR. RODGER:  Would it be fair to say that in terms of the kind of direct experience your organization would need, it could be a period of years before you really understand some of the answers to these questions or how some of this new reality actually impacts on the system?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is fair.

MR. RODGER:  So I take it that from your evidence, both prefiled and today, is that the reason why IESO senior management decided that notwithstanding the work that was done and the work that Charles River has done, that the prudent course at least at this time was to stay with the status quo, because this is one of the tools that the IESO can use to manage the situation in Ontario.

Is that an accurate summary?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is an accurate summary.

MR. RODGER:  Would you also agree that it continues to be an objective of the IESO, when you look at this ETS rate, that it still continued to be based on tariff design principles which best maximize the benefits of integrated regional energy markets? Would you agree with that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It is not the IESO's position to comment on rate design, but it seems reasonable.

MR. RODGER:  And added to that, rate design principle which also best maximizing trades with our neighbouring jurisdictions?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is also reasonable.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. King?
Cross-Examination by Mr. King:

MR. KING:  Running close to empty, sir.  Just to follow up on Mr. Rodger's questions, I take it that the final IESO recommendation essentially said - and I am asking you to confirm this - that the IESO believes that the benefits of having a lower export tariff at this time - namely, to mitigate and to avoid SBG incidents - outweigh the cost shifting benefits of option 2, which was the $5 per megawatt-hour charge; is that correct?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's fair.

MR. KING:  And those benefits of being able to mitigate and avoid SBG incidents, those operational or reliability benefits?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There are a number of benefits that are both operational, as well as economic and environmental in some cases.

MR. KING:  Could you explain the operational benefits?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There are a number of operational benefits, both from a generator owner and an IESO administrator.

Our colleagues from the nuclear facilities would tell you that nuclear units aren't built to go up and down every five minutes and bob and weave on the changes of demand.  So when you are in a surplus condition, we have to maintain the supply and demand balance regularly.

And where surplus results in us calling on nuclear facilities to perform that role, there are short-term and long-term effects to those pieces of equipment that -- they were not intended to operate in that manner.

There is other facilities, for example, hydroelectric facilities, that have regulations on them around spill, spill inspection, river flow, these types of things, which also introduce complexity for the operator and pose certain safety and regulatory restriction go on how they operate.

All of those things come into the control room at the system operators, and now you are trying to do the supply and demand balance activity with a whole bunch of other sort of handcuffs on your available tools to meet your supply and demand obligations, your transmission obligations.

Exports, to the extent that they can alleviate some of the surplus and get you outside of the marginal resources that are less flexible because of those things I mentioned, give you an operational condition where you do have marginal facilities that are flexible and able to meet those needs.

So two answers to the operability question or operational question, one that affects the generators and one that affects the system operator.

MR. KING:  And those operational concerns weren't taken into account in the initial IESO staff recommendation that option 2 be the preferred export charge; correct?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Correct.  Given with the prefiled evidence there was 2010-2015, it was in the report that no SBG was becoming evident in that analysis.

We were seeing, obviously, something else in real life.

MR. KING:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. King.

Mr. Buonaguro, you have arrived just in time.  Do you have any questions for this panel?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have quite a few questions for this panel, but I am not exactly ready at this second to go.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't we take our morning break and we will come back at 11 o'clock?

MS. LEA:  Mr. Chairman, I do have a couple of matters to speak to my friends about.  Could I ask for an extra five minutes in the break today, please?  I really do need that time to arrange some matters?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Certainly.  We will come back at ten minutes after 11:00.

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much, sir.

--- Recess taken at 10:44 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:17 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.  Mr. Buonaguro?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Good morning, panel.  We informally introduced ourselves at the break.  My name is my Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for VECC.

As you will have noticed, I missed the beginning of your -- of the cross-examination of your panel, so there is a good chance I might go over some stuff again, but so be it.  That is all I can say.

Before I start, the first thing I want to talk about is -- involves an exhibit that I distributed, I guess last week now.  It is a spreadsheet that I've entitled:  "Ontario monthly export volumes, 2009, in megawatt-hours."

Does the Board Staff have that available? 

MS. LEA:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro.  You gave this to us last week?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I have copies here. 

MS. LEA:  Okay. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I gave them all to her. 

MS. LEA:  So the panel, the Applicant has seen this? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe so. 

MR. ROGERS:  I have.  I am not sure the witnesses have.  I don't know that the IESO witnesses have seen it.  I know Mr. --


MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Have you?

MR. FINKBEINER:  The IESO witnesses have that material.

MR. ROGERS:  Excellent.  They do.  Yes, they do.

MR. FINKBEINER:  If we're talking Exhibit I-4-14, attachment 1?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  There may be some confusion, because I distributed it before panel 6 was split.  So I hadn't realized that -- then I distributed more material for panel 6, IESO-specific.

After all of that, it is just a matter of math.  I just wanted to check some math, because -- we can start, we can actually start with I, tab 4, schedule 14, attachment 1, which I think the witness just referred to.

MR. FINKBEINER:  It also has an attachment in it called the:  "Ontario monthly export volumes."


MR. BUONAGURO:  Aha, yes.  And the exhibit I am talking about is the exact same figures.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just for 2009.  The reason we put it together is because I put on the screen I-4-14, attachment 1, which is the one you are referring to.  And I have highlighted the 2009 figures.  And --


MS. LEA:  Mr. Buonaguro, did we give this an exhibit number already?  I don't have it recorded.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Not yet.

MS. LEA:  So should we do that now? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MS. LEA:  K9.2, please.
EXHIBIT NO. K9.2:  From EXHIBIT I, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 14, ATTACHMENT 1, TABLE ENTITLED:  "ONTARIO MONTHLY EXPORT VOLUMES."

MS. LEA:  Thank you. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if you compare I-4-14, attachment 1, which is the Ontario monthly export volumes -- and we are looking specifically at the 2009 figures -- what we have done in our table which is now K9.2, we took the exact same figures, we think, and put totals to it, so we could find out at the end of the year what the total export revenue -- or export volumes, sorry, was for 2009.

We got a figure of 15,104,634 megawatt-hours.  And the reason we did all of that is to make sure that we were working from the same total number for the year, for 2009. 

MR. FINKBEINER:  I'm not the mathematician like Dr. Shavel here.  I can't do the math that quickly, so I will trust that those numbers are accurate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  We will take that subject to check, then.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does Mr. Shavel accept that burden at this stage?

DR. SHAVEL:  Not without a calculator.

[Laughter.]

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So like I said, what we got was a total volume of exports for 2009 of 15.1 gigawatt-hours, I guess, if you translate the figure. 

Now, I am going to turn to Exhibit I9, schedule 1.  I can tell this panel most of my references I have on the computer, so if you need help finding it in your paperwork you can look on the screen and match what I am doing.

So this is Exhibit I, tab 9 schedule 1.  And I am looking at part 2 of 3 -- page 2 of 3, sorry, answer (a).

And do you see I have highlighted there the figure of 16.8 million, I believe, which is $16.8 million of export transmission service revenue for 2009.

Do you see that? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, we have it. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So to state the obvious, the export tariff for 2009 was $1 per megawatt-hour? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So what we're interested in is why it would be that the table is showing export volumes of 15.1 gigawatt-hours, but the revenues are $16.8 million.  So there is about a $1.7 million -- what appears on the face of it to be a discrepancy between the volumes and the reported revenue.

I am wondering if you could reconcile that for us.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I can't reconcile that here.  I would have to go back and look at the data.  I have only assumptions at this point.  It might have wheels through it that aren't calculated in the same way, but I would have to go back and qualify what the difference is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I will take that undertaking, if I may. 

MS. LEA:  Is that acceptable, Mr. Zacher? 

MR. ZACHER:  I am just trying to clarify with Mr. Finkbeiner who doable that is. 

MR. FINKBEINER:  We would have to go back and look, but we can rectify these numbers, or remedy.  Thank you. 

MS. LEA:  J9.1, please.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.1:  to RECONCILE $1.7 MILLION DISCREPANCY BETWEEN 2009 EXPORT VOLUMES AND REPORTED REVENUE.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  The one basic assumption we have, which I assume is true, is that all megawatt-hours that are exported are actually charged the $1 per megawatt-hour.  That is the charge?

MR. FINKBEINER:  All exports and wheel-through transactions are charged that charge.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  Now, that was my first very discrete issue of reconciliation.  I am going to move on to a topic which we entitled:  "Timing of the IESO study."

And I did distribute a bunch of materials to you.  I guess it was last week, without the intention of having them put on the record, but rather just to remind you of the time frames so we can go through the different -- how things progressed over the years. 

Now, I am going to start with this.  Can you confirm for me that the IESO was a party to the EB-2006-0501 settlement agreement, which led to the IESO undertaking the ETS study that is the subject of this hearing?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I can confirm that, yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And can you confirm or take it subject to check that the settlement agreement was approved by the OEB in April -- or on April 18th of 2007?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is my understanding, subject to check, yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, can you confirm that the first draft of the IESO proposed stakeholder engagement plan on this issue was distributed to interested parties in December of 2008, roughly 20 months later?

MR. FINKBEINER:  What was the date you referenced, again?

MR. BUONAGURO:  December 2008. 

MR. FINKBEINER:  I believe that is correct, yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain why it took so long for the IESO to initiate the study? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  The IESO initiated the study at a time where we felt the resources were available for the IESO to conduct that study.  We have numerous competing priorities around the IESO business, and it was just one where the timing was right at that time, as opposed to any earlier or later date.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it was a budgetary problem, internal to the IESO? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  Resourcing, both labour as well as funding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, as we understand it, the December draft plan that I just referred to from 2008 led to a revised stakeholder engagement plan, which was published in January of 2009, and that the first meeting of the stakeholder working group was held on January 22nd, 2009?

Can you confirm that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, can you confirm that this stakeholder plan called for preliminary results to be published in April of 2009, and a final recommendation forwarded to the OEB by June 1st, 2009?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I believe that is correct, yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Can you also confirm that in May of 2009 the IESO wrote to the OEB requesting an extension, so as to allow it to review other tariff design scenarios?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, that is correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So I am going to turn up AMPCO IR No. 6, which is Exhibit I, tab 9 schedule 6.  I am going to be looking at part (a), in particular.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Did you say schedule 6, sir?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Yes.  You can see on the screen there Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 6, and you can see I have highlighted part (a) of the response.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Thank you.  For the record, our screen is pretty blurry at the small scale, so if you can do that, that would be great.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When I am actually referring to it, I will try to do that for you.  No problem.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So in this response, you outline two additional tariff options that were studied, and you also note the fact that Bruce Power contributed $22,000 towards the study of these options.

Now, are these the other tariff designs that you are referring to in the letter to the OEB that we just talked about, the May 2009 letter?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, they are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain what the reason was for the IESO wanting to study these alternative designs?

MR. FINKBEINER:  In brief, during the stakeholder sessions, the market participants and stakeholders were bringing up concerns related to surplus generation that was being experienced or starting to see more experience of, and they had suggested a couple of alternatives that might help address that particular issue.  One was the elimination of off-peak, where surplus is generally more prevalent, and the other one was simply unilateral elimination of the tariff altogether.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  You mentioned stakeholders, generically.  Was there a particular party or parties advocating for these two options?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I can't recall if any one party was advocating more or less.  There was a general concern by stakeholders, and collectively through that stakeholder session we adopted these two options.  I can't attribute them specifically myself to any one party.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Now, moving on with the chronology, on August 10th of 2009, my understanding is that there was a stakeholder meeting where the IESO presented the study and the IESO's recommendation, which at that time was that option 2, which is the price based on the average network tariff, yielded the largest positive benefit to Ontario and should be implemented.

Is that a fair characterization?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is a fair characterization.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And then on August 12th, two days later, the IESO wrote to the Board seeking a second extension from the August 14th deadline to August 28th; is that correct?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I will just confirm that date.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I believe that to be correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And then at approximately 4:00 p.m. on August 27th, which would have been the day before the new deadline, my understanding is that the IESO communicated to the stakeholder group that it was recommending a continuation of the status quo as opposed to option number 2.

MR. FINKBEINER:  What was the date you said again, sorry?

MR. BUONAGURO:  August 27th, 2009.

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, would you agree that this was a significant change from the recommendation that was communicated to the working group on the 10th?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, I would.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me, was there any effort made to meet or discuss with stakeholders this change, so that there could be a better understanding of the IESO's concerns and rationale?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Not prior to the letter issued on the 27th.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So presumably there was no effort to seek stakeholder input as to whether this was the best way to address the IESO's management concerns?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now --


MR. FINKBEINER:  If I may, though?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Through the inputs from the stakeholders were -- through the development of the report, there were numerous opportunities for feedback.  So the IESO management also included that feedback in developing their position.

So if you recall early on in the testimony, we talked about other stakeholders bringing forward concerns around surplus.  That feedback, although not directly after the 10th when the report came out, was included in part of the rationale for making the decision.

So there was feedback along the way through the development of the report that we ultimately take into account.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you explain why, after involving the work group and identifying options throughout the course of the study, there was no effort made to engage them at this later point?

So between the point that you communicated option 2 was going to be the recommendation to August 27th where they were advised that that was no longer the case, why wasn't there an effort in that span to communicate to the stakeholder group who you had been working with?

MR. FINKBEINER:  At that particular time -- although I can't speak for all of what was going on with the management's thinking on this, at that particular point in time, we had what we felt we needed to make an assessment and our IESO recommendation, as it pertained to the facts that were occurring at the time, surplus that we were seeing in the marketplace at that point in time.

We had feedback from the market participants through the stakeholder process.  We had the report in front of us, and we were comfortable making our recommendation at that point.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I just want to make sure I understand what you mean when you say "I", because you seem to distinguish between IESO management and yourself, or the group that was dealing with the stakeholder group.

So when you say "I" or "we had what we needed", are you talking about the management group who didn't interact with the stakeholder group, or are you talking about the IESO group that was -- or the IESO staff that was dealing with the stakeholder group?

MR. FINKBEINER:  In that particular regard, I mean "I" as in the IESO had all of the information that we felt was necessary to make our recommendation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, lastly, between August 10th and the 27th of 2009, did the IESO discuss the initial recommendations with any of the members of the working group or any other parties outside the IESO, outside of the formal stakeholdering sessions?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I can't comment on who spoke to whom within the organization.  That would be speculation on my part.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you have no information on that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  None that I can provide, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, I am going to ask you to turn up Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 16.  I am going to be looking at page 2, in particular, and I am going to paraphrase.  I put it up on the screen so you can tell me if my paraphrasing is accurate.

But here, the answer to the question outlines the factors considered by the IESO management in recommending the status quo.  And would it be fair to say that those concerns were:  First, the significant increase in renewable and intermittent generation the system was likely to see as a result of the Green Energy Act; two, load deterioration due to the recent economic downturn; and, three, increased instances of surplus base load generation?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is a fair characterization.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, in terms of the Green Energy Act, we assume that the IESO has been looking at the implications of the Green Energy Act closely since it was first introduced; is that fair?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Your smile is noted for the record.  Can you confirm that the bill in respect of the Green Energy Act had its first reading in February of 2009, or perhaps take it subject to check?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, I will take that subject to check.  I am not a historian on that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so would it be fair, then, to say the IESO had been aware of the government's policy to aggressively promote renewable energy by this time, if not earlier?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, that would be fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you also confirm, or I take it -- take it subject to check that the Bill received royal assent in May of 2009?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So would it be fair to say that the issue of expanded renewal generation was well known when the IESO expanded the scope of its study in June of 2009?  And when I talk about expanding its scope, that is when you asked the Board for time to look at two different -- or two new options, two new tariff options?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Can I ask you to repeat that?  Sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Would it be fair to say that the issue of expanded renewable generation, through the implementation presumably of the Green Energy Act, was well known to the IESO when the IESO expanded the scope of its study in June of 2009?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It would be fair that the policy direction was well known to the IESO, but the magnitude of its impact was not at that time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I sent out as part of the package of material the IESO market outlooks for March 2009 and May 2009.  I don't think we need to put them on the record, but I gave you the page reference.  It was page 5 for the two of them.

Just in summary, would it be fair to say that both of those outlooks, the March 2009 and May 2009, were both calling for lower deliveries in 2010 versus 2009?

MR. FINKBEINER:  If when you refer to "lower deliveries" you mean domestic consumption, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

So the outlook for reduced demand is not something that was totally new in August of 2009? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And finally --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, I think it would be helpful if those documents were, in fact, put on the record.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Could you make arrangements to have that occur? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can we give that a prospective exhibit number, please?

MS. LEA:  K9.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.3:  IESO MARKET OUTLOOKS, MARCH 2009 AND MAY 2009.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Any concerns with that, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  No, sir. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. FINKBEINER:  There – sorry, there are two that were referred to as the -- I am assuming you mean both the March 16th submission and the May 25th? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  They would both be part of the same undertaking.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the outlook was almost identical in both.  What I can do is, under that undertaking, I can put a whole package of material that I sent to the witnesses that established the timeline.  They're both -- they're all relevant to the issue, so...

MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  That's fine with me, if it is okay with you, sir. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So finally we note, as talked about, that one of the concerns that led to the extension requested in May 2009 was to address issues regarding surplus base load generation that were raised by some stakeholders, which you have already talked about; correct? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So given this history, what additional information did the IESO management have in late August 2009 that was not available earlier, and therefore not have been -- or would not have been factored into the study in the development of options?

MR. FINKBEINER:  A number of things were known as potential issues. 

The order of magnitude and their import is what we were discovering over the study period.  This was a period where there was a lot of change going on, both within the sector around the Green Energy Act -- we were starting to get indications of the amount of impact that the Green Energy Act, the feed-in tariff would have, as far as investment.

We're currently, like I said earlier today, expecting 6,000 or more megawatts over the next two to three years.  That wasn't known at the outset, when the Act was just being passed.

And we started getting more information and more insight.

During the study period, if you look from about April to June, July, early August, when we were starting to make these decisions, we started to see the first major wave of surplus conditions, approximately 700 hours of surplus in April, May, June, July.  Never seen before in the IESO.

And in fact, if you go to the material, page 19 of the reference to the 18-month outlook that we just decided to give an exhibit number to, there is a sentence in there, under the operability assessment, page 19, that says "Surplus base load supply situations have occurred infrequently to date, and have always been accompanied by very low energy prices."

So this is in March when we issued that assessment, and that was leading into the report's development.

Contrast that by the next outlook that was also in the material.  We were seeing a very -- "Because of the impact --"

Again, I am reading now from 21:

“Because of the impact the surplus base load generation can have on the system in market operations, proper managements of these occasions is a top priority for the IESO.  The IESO is actively engaged with market participants to review and enhance processes for managing these conditions."

You can see a significant step-change in the attitude of the IESO going from the March outlook into the May outlook.  And it was those sorts of things -- the uncertainty around the Green Energy Act, the occurrence of surplus, and the ongoing deterioration of load -- which gave rise to us to change or come to the recommendation that we ultimately did.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I have just highlighted page 21 there that you just read out.  So if somebody wants to read it.  All right.  Thank you very much. 

Now, I am going to move to Exhibit H-1, tab 5, schedule 2, attachment 1, page 9, which is the report, I think, page 9. 

Generally speaking, in the second paragraph, my understanding is that part of what the second paragraph outlines is what we call the operational benefits of the higher level of exports associated with the status quo; is that fair?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I would say that would be fair. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the first point that is made here is that during low load periods, surplus situations can be alleviated or even avoided through exports; correct? 

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it fair to say that the most -- or, sorry, to say that most of these low load periods will occur in the off-peak, for example, week days, overnight, plus weekends and holidays?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Although it doesn't only occur off-peak, that would be fair, that the majority are. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you. 

Is it also fair to say that these low load periods typically give rise to low hourly Ontario energy price and market prices?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I will qualify, not knowing what your definition of "low" is, there is generally a correlation with global oversupply and negative prices.

But where we defined surplus as a manoeuvring of a nuclear facility or a curtailment of an import, there wasn't always a correlation with negative price.

In fact, if memory serves, I think we were in the 70 percent range, where nuclear reductions were taken in Ontario and the price was not negative.

That is a consequence of our two-schedule systems in Ontario, where we price in a uniform way, not taking into account transmission constraints and so on, whereas operation comes from the constrained world, where we look at transmission constraints, ramping capability of machines, these sorts of things.

So although there is typically a correlation with lower prices, there is not necessarily a direct relationship for local surplus conditions, and negative pricing doesn't always mean that we are not in surplus. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But you would agree that in many of the hours where there has been surplus base load generation, the hourly Ontario energy price has been negative?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There was very much an increase in negative pricing in Ontario, yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  At the same time there was surplus base load generation?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you. 

Now, if the surplus problem is primarily an off-peak issue, would one possible option be to have lower export transmission tariff in the off-peak and a higher tariff in the peak period?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is an option, and it was one of the –- loosely, that was one of the additional options that was analyzed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you. 

Now, I am going to take you to VECC No. 17(b), which is I4-17(b). 

I take it from the response that the Charles River modelling did not look at how much of the impact on exports occurred in the peak versus the off-peak periods; that is not something that was reviewed?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.  Not reported in detail, that's right. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  So going back, if you go to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 32, which I will put up, and the part (b), it says here.
"Based on the forecast volumes in the IESO business plan, a reduction of 35 percent would result in volumes for 2011 and 2012 of 6.6 terawatt-hours.  Using the $5 megawatt-hour charge would result in a revenue credit of $33 million per year." 

It is a little complicated, but my understanding is that -- well, my understanding, first of all, is that option 2 was determined to lead to a 35 percent decrease in export volumes, correct, as part of the study?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But we don't know how that decrease in export volumes is distributed over the peak and off peak periods; correct?

DR. SHAVEL:  We don't have -- that's not in the report, yes, that's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.  When you say that is not in the report, does that mean you don't -- you know, but it isn't in the report?

DR. SHAVEL:  It is calculated in the model.  We can extract it, but it was not in the report.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So you say you can actually extract that?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you do that by way of undertaking?

DR. SHAVEL:  Yes, we can.

MS. LEA:  J9.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.2:  TO PROVIDE DECREASE IN EXPORT VOLUMES DISTRIBUTED OVER THE PEAK AND OFF PEAK PERIODS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, given that the HOEP is frequently negative, is it possible that an increase in the export tariff prices by a dollar or two may not have much of an impact on export levels, given the potential distribution of the decline in export volumes?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Can you repeat that, sorry?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Given the HOEP is frequently negative, is it possible that increasing the export tariff prices by a dollar or two may not have much of an impact on export levels, depending on when the exports are taking place, I guess is implicit in the question?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is a question that would require a lot of analysis and thought.

The fact that you are adding to a cost of a commodity just generically will have a downward pressure on the value of that commodity.  So without doing analysis and all else being equal, et cetera, if you were to ask sort of an unqualified view of what you would expect with an increase of cost, you would expect a downward pressure on that export behaviour.

How much?  Depending on where you are, as far as does it change, does a dollar at negative prices affect transaction behaviour more?  You have to look at the regional prices around you.

And really what you are doing by adding additional cost is you are reducing that trade margin that would be economic for those activities to take place, and without knowing the various factors of your neighbouring jurisdictions, and so on, it is hard to answer that question specifically.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, the question is possible.  So when you say -- it seems to me that you are saying that you could imagine a scenario where that is true, but you don't have all of the factors to determine whether it is -- it would be the case in Ontario?

MR. FINKBEINER:  What I would say is it doesn't seem to be intuitive to me, and I would have to do some analysis before I could suggest that it is or isn't possible.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Now, this is referring back to page 9, but I am not going to take you there, because we already talked about the second concern, which appears to be with regard to the growing increase in intermittent and renewable generation.  That was outlined as one of the concerns?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I take it the concern is that output of such generation is not dispatchable, but, rather, varies on its own depending upon wind conditions, et cetera, depending on the type of resource we're talking about?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is one element of its characteristic.

When we are talking about surplus, we are looking at pure volume.  We are looking at -- in our definition of surplus, we look at any nuclear manoeuvre or any resource that cannot produce electricity with a fuel that it cannot store, so hydroelectric facilities that must forego production by spilling water, or wind facilities that must forego production by spilling wind, if you will.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  When we're talking about a concern about the growing increase in intermittent renewable generation, I don't think you are talking about growing hydroelectric generation.  You are talking about, in particular, wind?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you.

And, furthermore, it is not only not dispatchable, but the system must be able to respond to variations in the output from renewable resources in order to match supply and demand in real time.  And this becomes a greater challenge we the many amount of intermittent renewable on the system increases.  Is that a fair summary of the concern?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Not entirely.  The notion of a resource being dispatchable or not dispatchable is one that I wouldn't characterize quite like that.  Wind resources do have obligations within the market rules to respond to direction from the IESO.

What we're looking at is, in part -- I think you are correct in saying that the variability of those facilities will create complication to the operation of the grid.

But what we're talking about is a condition where you have typically a choice between moving a nuclear unit, spilling water, or spilling wind.

And when you look at those types of resources, that is what, for us, we define surplus.  They each have a consequence as far as taking that action.

If you ask one of those resource types to go off, those are all legitimate options.  They're all tools in the operator's tool kit.  You can ask any one of those resources to move.

They all have implications.  They typically are accompanied with negative impacts for the unit operator and complexity of the system operator that exports could help manage and mitigate in a more efficient and less operationally impactive way.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I think there I was partly right, but there is a whole lot more behind it.

MR. FINKBEINER:  There is a lot more behind it than what you are suggesting, I am afraid.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  In reading your response to VECC number 18, so that is - I will put it up for you - Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 18.  I'm in particular looking at page 2, which asked you about scheduling of export transactions.

Part (d) of the response tells us that:
~"Export transactions are scheduled one hour ahead of real-time and they are fixed during the hour in real-time.  The IESO cannot increase the export quantity in real time even if there is more output from renewable resources such as wind and solar."


Could you explain to me how higher levels of exports help to deal with the hour-to-hour variability in output from wind and/or solar resources?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Transaction benefits -- I like the way you put it for hour to hour.  They do not have intra-hour flexibility.

So in the IESO scheduling process, we have what we call the predispatch process, which is an hourly view of what we expect to occur.  It generates prices and projected schedules for all resources in the market.

As we see through that predispatch process, inputs such as dispatch data for the nuclear facilities, the hydro facilities and the wind facilities, which include forecasts for the wind facility, you get a sense of the amount of surplus that you might be faced with, the sense of the prices that might be established.  And those signals from the predispatch processes are used to attract not only internal domestic unit commitment, but also intertie commitment through input and exports.

We use that hourly predispatch process to signal to those resources outside the province where we could benefit from both imports or exports in the case of surplus.

So the hour-to-hour support that we get from the export comes from good signals for the predispatch that show that we could be in a surplus condition, whether that be negative pricing or low prices, depending on your definition, and that would attract exports to come in, show up in those hourly schedules, and keep us from those marginal resources that don't have the flexibility or the surplus resources.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you mentioned a few times in your explanation how you are able to address the issue of surplus base load generation.

It seemed to me, in my understanding, is you were addressing largely that issue, the surplus base load generation issue.  What I am specifically interested in is whether or how higher levels of exports, i.e., maintaining higher levels of exports, helps addressed variability in the supply from the renewables in real time.

MR. FINKBEINER:  If you take what I just said and extend to that, look a little bit more into the answer that I gave, where I said that we were -- the marginal resources are no longer this inflexible resource.  Remember I said wind, water, nuclear that had to spill or couldn't manoeuvre very easily.

When you add exports on to the system, it changes the demand that you are supplying, and as you have to supply more demand you call on different resource types.

Those exports will help you in some cases get to those marginal resources that are more flexible.  That could be water with storage capability, it might be gas on a different day, these sorts of things.

Once you get into a marginal resource that is more flexible, those flexible resources are now able to respond within the hour to variability of the wind resources.

In addition to that, we also regularly -- always, we have to -- carry a regulation service.  And those exports that we get on an hourly basis make sure that we have the resources available as well for regulation service.

So it is a much more complex commitment process that the pre-dispatch actually defines, that gets things like supply and demand expectations met, responsiveness to price, making sure we have our reserves, our regulation, and these sorts of things.

So there is a number of sort of factors that you would have to sort of understand, rationalize through that pre-dispatched process, to get you to your answer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Forgive me if I may be a little obtuse on this topic, but when you talk about exports allowing you to get at or avoid the variability, it sounds to me like what you mean to say is imports, so that you are not -- and I may be completely off, but it sounds like you are importing energy in order to not have to worry about the variability in the intermittent resources, that you said you can't dispatch on an hour-to-hour basis.

Maybe I am just completely misunderstanding.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yeah, I will try and explain it by way of example.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. FINKBEINER:  Assume for a moment Ontario's domestic load overnight was 11,000 megawatts.  And assume the inflexible generation -- let's just pick nuclear, for the sake of argument -- equated to 12,000 megawatts.

You have a mismatch there between domestic load and flexible generation of 1,000 megawatts.

If you assume the next megawatt beyond the 12,000 of nuclear is a hydroelectric facility with storage capability and these sorts of things -- flexibility in its operation, it didn't have regulatory requirements to run, these sorts of things -- if you added, in my example -- recall 12,000 megawatts of nuclear, 11,000 megawatts of demand -- if you added 2,000 megawatts of exports onto the system, your marginal resource, what would you run?

Well, you would run the 12,000 megawatts of nuclear facility, and that will get you the first 12,000 megawatts of your domestic load.  Then you would be a thousand megawatts into that flexible hydraulic output.

So when you now take that example, you are deep into 1,000 megawatts of flexible hydraulic generation, and if you assume some of that nuclear wasn't, in fact, nuclear, it was wind, and it was wandering around based on Mother Nature, you are in that band of hydroelectric facility that can respond to those variations in real time.

They can move on a five-minute basis to follow the change of wind conditions.

Without the exports, you would have been lock-step in the middle of the nuclear marginal resource.  When you move a nuclear unit, it is very chunky, I will say.  You either shut them off, or they take large chunks of reductions, typically, in their operation to meet dispatch requests from the IESO.

So where, under my very contrived example, you can get away from these inflexible resources, that export, by increasing the market demand, can get you into that variable level.

Again, a contrived example.  I hope it was useful to explain, but that is where an export gets you out of the surplus range of supply and into the more flexible range of supply.  And that is really where exports provide that benefit to manage surplus.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you had me until you summarized by saying helping you manage the surplus, and the point I am trying to understand is how it helps you manage the variability and supply.

MR. FINKBEINER:  They go hand in hand, right?  The surplus is -- it is not constant for an hour.  It is not like I have 500 megawatts in Ontario that you just have surplus.

Surplus varies with the demand changes, as well as the generation changes, generation of these surplus facilities, the wind, the water, the nuclear.

So when I say "surplus" we don't look at a change as a distinct difference between surplus.  What has happened from one interval to the next is the surplus condition has changed.  We went from, if wind drops out, your surplus has gotten smaller.  If wind picks up, your surplus has gotten bigger.

So when I answer the question and I say "surplus" it's in that context, that every interval has a different surplus value.  And we are managing and are better able to manage, if you go back to my example, those five-minute to five-minute surpluses when we have resources that are on the margin that are more flexible.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you for that.  I am going to move to page 16 of the report, H-1, tab 5, schedule 2, attachment 1.  You can see on -- this is table 3.  You can see I highlighted where I got the 35 percent that we talked about earlier?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And here you show the net Ontario benefit for each of the ETS tariff options that were studied.

And if we look at the results for average embedded network rate, which happens to be the one with the 35 percent highlighted, the benefit is $20 million in 2008 dollars, right?

DR. SHAVEL:  That is actually shown on page 17.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 17, I'm sorry.  Wrong table.  Thank you very much.

Now, if we look at the response to Board Staff No. 32, so that is Exhibit I, tab 1, 32, our understanding is that this benefit is calculated by adding the incremental export transmission revenue of $27 million, which you can see on the same table, to the market efficiency change of negative $7 million, which is also on the table, to obtain the $20 million; is that correct?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I am going to actually turn to Board Staff 32, because I have highlighted the response there.  As part of the response –- sorry, I lost my mouse.

And I think this is in general, within the interrogatory, our understanding is that you have not assumed that the incremental export transmission revenue is used to reduce the network transmission rates for Ontario consumers.  I think that is part (c)?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me how the consumer surplus of $207 million would change if one assumes that the increase in transmission export revenues was used to reduce the network charge?  Would it simply increase the consumer surplus by $20 million?

DR. SHAVEL:  The consumer surplus is measured by the change in the -- in the HOEP, in the energy price, times the quantity demanded in each of our load blocks.  We are not modelling hourly.  We're modelling by load block.

We have assumed that the -- in our model, the quantity demand that is the same.  


So the measure here is the sum over all of the blocks of the change in the price, times the megawatt-hours demanded in that block.  So the two concepts are really separate.  The export tariff revenues is a separate component.  It is not part of the surplus.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So your calculation, the consumer surplus is not impacted at all?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Based on what you do with the $20 million, vis-à-vis the network charge?

DR. SHAVEL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, we are going to go back in time to RP-1999-0044.  And I distributed a copy of the decision to the parties as part of the package I sent out I think on Friday.  I can't recall.

And the relevant pages are pages 66 to 70 -- no, pages 66 to 68.  I am going to start at the end, 68, which is the Board's summary of the issues concerning the export transmission tariff.  And it is my understanding this is the genesis of the current one-dollar per megawatt-hour export tariff.

So on page 68 in the conclusion - and I have highlighted it there and I will blow it up so people can actually read it - starting at paragraph 3.8.25:
"In summary, the Board finds that as an interim tariff..."

And I should say the underlining is not mine.  That is original to the decision:
"...the OHNC revised proposal is simple, signals that EWT rates are at the low end of the range of tariffs in other interconnected jurisdictions and will allow experience to be gained regarding net revenues generated by the IMO administered inter-tie congestion management system.  The Board therefore approves a fixed EWT charge of $1/Mwh."

Now, you will note in the reasoning at this paragraph, a reference is made to the net revenues generated by the IMO - which I am now understanding is now called the IESO - administered intertie congestion management system.

If we go back to the previous page of the Board's decision, they make the following comment, and you can see I started the highlighting there at paragraph 3.8.24:
"The Board notes the general expectation that, under the Market Rules, the congestion management system of the IMO will yield some net revenue that will be credited to transmission customers (market participants).  Assuming these expectations are fulfilled, at this point it is not possible for the Board to assess whether the net revenue arising from the congestion management will be greater or less than the revenue from the $1/MWh flat rate proposed by OHNC or the ceiling proposed by OPG, also $1/MWh.  Given all of the other many market opening issues, the Board's preference for OHNC's revised proposal of a flat rate is mainly because of its simplicity."


Now, can you tell me whether in 2008 or 2009 there were net revenues arising from congestion management that accrued to customers of the transmission system, and, if so, how much they were?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I would have to check the dates, the timing of the actual disbursement.

There has been a pay-out of $57 million from that TR congestion management process.  I believe it was $4.75 million a month over 12 months starting in, I think it was, 2008.  But that is what -- I would have to check the dates on that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Did you want to confirm that by way of undertaking, the numbers?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I will do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We are looking for 2008 and 2009 net revenues arising from congestion management that accrued to customers on the transmission system.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  J9.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.8:  TO PROVIDE 2008 AND 2009 NET REVENUES ARISING FROM CONGESTION MANAGEMENT THAT ACCRUED TO CUSTOMERS ON THE TRANSMISSION SYSTEM.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, going back a couple of pages to page 66 where the section on this issue starts.  At 3.8.20, the Board noted:
"The Board considers that the Government’s long-term objective of reducing energy costs through competition can be served by the development of larger, open power markets where trade can take place with the minimum of impediment."


My understanding is that that is a reference to the possibility of negotiation of reciprocal arrangements to eliminate export tariffs between jurisdictions.  Is that a fair summary of what that means, from the IESO's perspective?

MR. FINKBEINER:  From my personal perspective, that seems fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I don't think it is not a trick question.  When they talk about larger open power markets, that means -- opening the market means reducing barriers to market, I presume?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I would agree with that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Would it be fair to say this objective or goal has been around for a while?  It looks to be at least ten years now?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Again, that would be fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, has the IESO ever attempted to explore reciprocal elimination of the export transmission tariffs with other jurisdictions prior to 2007?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I cannot comment on everything that the IESO tried to do before that time.  I am not the expert in that area.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say you can't comment on everything, do you have a sense that there was some activity and you just don't know the full extent of it, or you simply don't know?

MR. FINKBEINER:  There was a lot of activity around regional market harmonization, and it came in different forms, everything from congestion management processes and protocols that would foster more open and liquid trading amongst organizations.

And I know that at least in conversations, that tariff was -- rate pancaking, as it was commonly referred to as, was a topic of conversation, the details of which I am not aware of.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So right now as the record stands, it seems to me that you are aware that there was some activity, but you can't tell me any specifics?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That would be fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it something you want to, by way of undertaking, provide more details on?

MR. ZACHER:  If I might interject, I just don't know how much that would add to any of this.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am offering him the opportunity.  I am indifferent as to whether he does it or not.  He doesn't know off the top of his head.  There is a sense there was something going on, but he wasn't able to give me details.  If we want to leave it at that, that is fine by me.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I am happy leaving it at that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Lastly - just making sure it is lastly before I promise you anything - Exhibit I, tab 9, schedule 3, which is an AMPCO IR response.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Sorry, which schedule again?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I, tab 9, schedule 3.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you were asked about discussions with various jurisdictions, in particular, New York, the MISO in Quebec on the issue of reciprocal agreements.

And our understanding from this response is that only New York has expressed any real interest; is that fair?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You then go on to say that you don't propose to have any further discussions in the near future.

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it fair to say that the idea of establishing reciprocal arrangements for the elimination of export tariffs is on the so-called back burner for now?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It is not our first priority at this time; that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Ms. Lea.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, I would like to ask you a question about the corrected interrogatory you filed this morning, just a couple of questions about surplus base load generation, and this is related to the original answer you gave, as well, at Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 17 to that VECC interrogatory.

So the observed hours of surplus base load generation during 2010, do you know whether those surplus base load generation occurrences were caused by physical constraints in the transmission system?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I do not have a breakdown on which were generic or global surplus versus which were exacerbated by transmission outages.

MS. LEA:  If it were a global surplus problem, what would be the cause of that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Simply not enough load to meet the surplus base load generation types.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  And you don't know how much of that is caused by transmission constraints, then?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I would have to -- it would take some analysis to try to sort out which events had transmission contributors and which events did not.

MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.

I don't need that information.  I just want to talk about it theoretically with you.

Do you think that the -- for these particular observed events, the export tariff was relevant to these surplus events?  In other words, would a lower export tariff have alleviated the situation, or would a higher tariff have made it worse?

MR. FINKBEINER:  In my opinion, going back to some of the earlier evidence, when you change the tariff, you change the cost of the transaction.

And any increase would reduce the pressure or reduce the desire to export; any decrease will increase the desire to export.  It changes the trading margins, the margins of profit.

So if we are looking at a jurisdiction neighbouring us with a $10 price and Ontario is with an $8 price, you take the tariff to $3 and the transaction would disappear.  It is not profitable any more.

MS. LEA:  Do you know whether that, in fact, was a factor for these base load generation occurrences in 2010?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I do not know for a fact.

MS. LEA:  Now, with the forecast for surplus base load generation events that you have provided us, you are assuming a $1 per megawatt-hour export tariff when you give us those numbers?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, that is correct.  We assume status quo in developing our 18-month outlooks.  We assume the same behaviours.

MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.

I wonder if you could look, please, at another VECC Interrogatory, No. 14, so that is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 14.

At attachment 1, page 2 -- Mr. Buonaguro has very kindly brought it up on the screen as well -- this deals with wheeling through Ontario, as opposed to an -- Ontario's buying and selling; is that right?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So the --


MR. FINKBEINER:  If I may, though, extend that?

MS. LEA:  Please.

MR. FINKBEINER:  We have two types of wheels in Ontario market.  We have something that is called a linked wheel, and something that is called an implied wheel.

Where a participant is trading -- and I will use an example from New York to the Midwest ISO -- they can link the transaction, meaning that the import and the export are -- must go up and down at the same time.  They must be either curtailed or scheduled, all or nothing, at an equal amount.

An implied wheel is perhaps the same market participant importing and exporting simultaneously across, again, in at New York, out at MISO, but economics might dictate a difference of schedule between the two.  In this particular page 2, it was only related to linked wheels, the first style of wheeling that I described.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And for that style of wheeling, is there a charge of a dollar per megawatt-hour?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, there is.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And would a higher tariff, a $5-per-megawatt-hour tariff, have any effect on this activity?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, it would.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And it would reduce this activity?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It would have -- again, it would create another cost for the transacting party to go from New York to MISO.  If you went from $1 to five -- that is another $4 transactional cost -- that would eat away at the marginal opportunity of that transaction.

MS. LEA:  And do you have any estimate of what amounts of wheeling would have been discouraged by this higher price?

Is that part of an undertaking that was given earlier?  I can't recall.

MR. FINKBEINER:  I am not aware of any undertaking, and no, I do not have any estimates of that.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmmm.  And is there any way of interpreting the CRA study data to determine that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I don't know of any, but I will look to my colleague.

DR. SHAVEL:  I don't -- I don't think so.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  And would the change in tariff have any effect -- of the wheeling tariff, of this type of wheeling -- would it have any effect on the producer surplus or consumer surplus in Ontario?

DR. SHAVEL:  This kind of wheel doesn't affect the generation in Ontario.

MS. LEA:  Right.

DR. SHAVEL:  So it doesn't affect the HOEP, it doesn't affect the output of the generators, it doesn't affect their margins.  So I think the answer is no.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  That was my understanding.  I just wanted to confirm that, given the complexities of this subject matter, I didn't have it wrong.  Thank you.

I would like to look at the different options you considered for tariffs.  Do I understand that there - I think this was confirmed by Mr. Buonaguro, that all of the alternatives that you considered were a dollar-per-megawatt format, without any time-of-use component?

MR. FINKBEINER:  The options we considered, the status quo was a dollar a megawatt.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmmm.

MR. FINKBEINER:  The equivalent average network was the $5.  Reciprocal treatment varied based on the interface.  The on/off peak, which was added later --


MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. FINKBEINER:  -- was, I believe it used $1 for on-peak, and zero for off.  I will get that confirmed.

MS. LEA:  Yes.  That was my understanding as well.

So in that way, there was an attempt at moving towards a more market-based or -- type of tariff?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I wouldn't say any tariff is market-based per se.  It would just allow for regional flows without tariff.

So the -- from a transacting party's perspective, it would only be market charges that they would have to consider when deciding whether or not to trade or not trade.

MS. LEA:  All right.  And did you consider -- you considered, as I understand it, the removal of the tariff in off-peak situations.

Did you consider, instead, maintaining the tariff for off-peak situations at a dollar, and increasing the tariff for on-peak situations?

DR. SHAVEL:  No.

MR. FINKBEINER:  No, we did not.

MS. LEA:  And why was that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I would be speculating as to why not.

MS. LEA:  Well, in one of your interrogatory responses, you indicated that the stakeholders didn't suggest it, or -- I am not quite sure.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  It wasn't suggested that I am aware of.  We looked at the elimination and the effects.  We did the zero-and-one approach.  We didn't look at other methodology where you kept one and went to five or some other number.

MS. LEA:  Do you think it would be of benefit to look at that type of structure?  Keep one and go to five in peak?

MR. FINKBEINER:  It would have a change.  It would have an impact in trading behaviours.

To the extent that surplus is a condition that does in fact happen on-peak from time to time, it would have the consequence of reducing the export desirability.

It depends on what you are looking for in the answer to that analysis.

MS. LEA:  Yes, I understand.  And we don't know what effect it would have on the Ontario benefit or the level of imports or exports?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Not without more detailed analysis.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I would like to look at your report at H1, tab 5, schedule 2.  And, in particular, I would like to look at page 9, please, which is the page Mr. Buonaguro took you to, but I want to look at a different sentence.

The sentence I want to look at is in the last third.  It begins:  "The magnitude of net Ontario benefits..."

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.

So if we look at that sentence -- and I am just going to read it, because there are a number of things I wanted to ask you about:

“The magnitude of the net Ontario benefits observed in option 2..."

Now, option 2 is the $5 per megawatt-hour; am I right?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That is correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay, "... are small...", and you give us the numbers.
"...when compared with the overall Ontario transactional costs..."

Yes?  And you give us the number.
"...and may well be further degraded as a result of changing conditions."

So the overall transactional costs, what is this number?  This is just annual sales.  Is there anything else that goes into overall Ontario transactional costs?

MR. FINKBEINER:  No.  Not really.  No, there isn't.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So that is sales of the commodity in that 10 billion?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Those are approximate costs for the electricity energy costs, the energy --


MS. LEA:  The energy costs.  There is not the transmission cost included in there?

MR. FINKBEINER:  No.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And then you say that it may be further degraded as a result of changing conditions.

And what are these changing conditions?

MR. FINKBEINER:  As we identified earlier, with the deteriorated load, increases in expected base load or surplus contributing generation, and the increase in surplus that we were experiencing, those are the conditions that we concern ourselves or we concerned ourselves with there.

Managing this surplus has another cost that we didn't go into here, but briefly, if you were to take a surplus condition and were to shut down a nuclear unit to respond to that condition, it may be that in future periods you have to commit, let's say, a gas plant to supply.

When you take a nuclear unit out of service, it is out for a period of time, let's say three days.  In those three days, we still have on obligation to meet our supply and demand.

So when we look at how we would meet that, you may have to commit a gas plant, let's say.  There is generator cost guarantees.  There are marginal cost differences between gas and nuclear, and then we don't even remotely start looking at the contractual implications.

The OPA contracts with -- Bruce Power is here.  I will point to them.  There are clauses within those contracts that do or don't pay when curtailed for things like surplus.

All of those things are costs that will ultimately either work their way into HOEP, global adjustment or some other uplift within the IESO-administered markets, and they would erode that benefit that was identified earlier.

MS. LEA:  These were the sorts of things you considered when changing your recommendation from $5 per megawatt-hour to $1 per megawatt-hour?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Those are things we consider, yes.

MS. LEA:  I would like to discuss briefly with you, then, mostly for my own understanding, the option, what I have called 3-2, which is the reciprocal at the average embedded cost of all transmitters.

And it is a particular page in your report.  It is page 21.  And at page 21 in the footnote, with is footnote 9...  Footnote 9, thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

I wasn't sure -- I wondered if you could explain these reasons for limiting further assessment of option -- well, I have called it 3.  It is the second of the three options of the numbered three options; is that right?

MR. FINKBEINER:  The first sub-bullet was simply a reflection that we did not have, at that time, support with our neighbours to do a mutual elimination approach.

MS. LEA:  When you say the parties, then that is the neighbouring jurisdictions?

MR. FINKBEINER:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm, okay.  Okay.  And the second reason?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I am perhaps not the best one to answer this question within the organization, but when you look at scenario 3-2, it is reciprocal treatment average embedded.  So everybody would get five except for New York.

So you would have a difference of tariff amongst customers within the market.  I can only assume that is what that particular footnote was leading to.  I'm sorry, I am not the author of that particular point.

MS. LEA:  I wonder, it might be helpful certainly to Board Staff to understand that second part of the footnote better.

Mr. Zacher, do you want to undertake to provide any additional explanation with respect to that?

MR. ZACHER:  That is not a problem.  We can do that.

MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.  J9.4, please.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.4: TO PROVIDE FULLER EXPLANATION OF SECOND PART OF FOOTNOTE 9, PAGE 21 OF REPORT.

MS. LEA:  And that would be some additional explanation of the second part of footnote 9, page 21.  Thank you.

Now, did you consider at any time developing an option in which the -- in which there was an export tariff equal to the average of the tariffs of the neighbouring systems, so maybe not reciprocal, but using an average of the neighbouring jurisdictions?

MR. FINKBEINER:  No, I don't recall considering that.

MS. LEA:  And when I look at your study at page 7, and there is a table 1 at page 7 --


MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  -- they list transmission service charges, and there are five non-zero tariffs, and then some which appear to be reciprocal arrangements that are zero.

Am I understanding correctly, for example, that the IESO paid to Hydro-Québec transmission $12.52 per megawatt-hour in addition to what it paid for the commodity, when I look at that column on the right?  Am I understanding this table?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  The transaction costs for the Quebec transaction was 12.52, based on this table, yes.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  And for Michigan it was 5.10 and for New York it was 6.30?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I guess it would be possible to calculate an average of the tariffs of the neighbouring systems.  You could include the zeros or exclude them, or just include the ones where Ontario is the recipient, or you could weight it by throughput.

I don't know, but would it be worth trying to find an average of the neighbouring systems and using that as our tariff?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I think it would take -- you would want to do some further analysis on that, but, yes, it is possible to do that averaging and do that analysis.

MS. LEA:  Are the tariffs in the neighbouring jurisdictions similar to ours, in that it is a fixed amount per megawatt-hour, no matter what the system conditions?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I believe that to be the case, but I am not a tariff expert for the other jurisdictions.

MS. LEA:  But you did not consider this when contemplating what the tariff should be for Ontario in your report?

MR. FINKBEINER:  No, we did not.

MS. LEA:  And why was that?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Probably because it wasn't suggested.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  But you could suggest it or you could do it?

MR. FINKBEINER:  We could have, yes.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Rodger talked to you about the timing of a possible study to follow up on this one, and you talked about various milestones coming out of that.  And you indicated, as well, that you might need some years for some of these pieces of data or considerations to come to fruition.

Did I understand that evidence correctly?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes, that's correct.  Some of the experiences we are predicting will not come for some time.

So, for example, our working assumption is the bulk of the first wave of FIT generation isn't likely until 2012.  You might see some come in in 2011, but our experience with the FIT generation and our learning from that, the new processes, exercising those new processes, and the like, will not be mature by any stretch until some later date.

MS. LEA:  Would it be true to say that we really don't know what that later date might be, given the level of change we've seen in the Ontario system?  It could be your information a year from now, it could be just as good or better than your information five years from now, depending on the changing conditions in the market?

MR. FINKBEINER:  Given what has happened in the past, I think that is a fair statement.  You don't know what is going to change, what policy direction is going to change over the next year, two years, three years.

So you may find yourself always having to make a certain set of assumptions, whether it be:  Are you going to 14,000 nuclear, like I mentioned earlier?

So you will always have -- it is quite likely you will always have to make some assumptions.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Very briefly this morning someone - I think it was my friend, Mr. Vegh, perhaps - touched on the proposal that the ministry has put out for comment with respect to a regulation dealing with a costing mechanism for the global adjustment mechanism, which is similar to what we have been dealing with in this hearing and calling High 5 for transmission.  You remember that discussion?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I do.

MS. LEA:  Has the IESO done any analysis to estimate the impact of cost shifting from industrial customers in response to this potential regulation?

MR. FINKBEINER:  The potential regulation, meaning the global adjustments?

MS. LEA:  Yes, correct.

MR. FINKBEINER:  Yes.  We have done some analysis around the impact to consumers, yes.

MS. LEA:  And what does that analysis reveal?

MR. FINKBEINER:  I am not the expert on that.  I do not know.

MS. LEA:  I wonder if there is someone in the organization that could undertake to provide that?

MR. ZACHER:  I am just trying to understand what that would entail --


MS. LEA:  Right, I understand.

MR. ZACHER:  -- in relation to the ETS issue that Mr. Finkbeiner --


MS. LEA:  No, isn't really related to the ETS issue.  It has more to do with what this Board is considering for the High 5, so it is perhaps not completely fair.  I was just trying to get what might be relevant information on the record, but perhaps you could simply undertake to let us know whether that is easily done or easily produced?

MR. ZACHER:  Sure.  Could you just clarify it, Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  I think I understood the witness to say that the IESO had done some analysis to estimate what cost shifting might be, for industrial customers might be triggered by this proposed regulation that is not yet in force, but that is out for comment, related to the global adjustment mechanism.

MR. ZACHER:  We can certainly look into whether that has been done, yes.

MS. LEA:  All right.  Perhaps...  I guess that it ties in a little bit to this panel, because it might affect surplus base load.

But, in any event, if you could undertake to enquire and produce what is -- what you believe is relevant, that would be of help. 

MR. ZACHER:  We will find out if there has been any work that's been done, and if there has been, we will produce that.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  J9.5, please.
UNDERTAKING NO. J9.5:  to CONFIRM WHETHER IESO HAS DONE ANALYSIS TO ESTIMATE COST-SHIFTING FOR INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS UNDER PROPOSED REGULATION, AND IF SO, PRODUCE IT.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board would be interested in that.  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  I am glad. 

Yes, that completes my questions.  Thank you very much. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, redirect?

MR. ROGERS:  I should look to my friend, Mr. Zacher.  I don't have any questions of Mr. Andre, and...

MR. ZACHER:  No redirect as well.  Thank you. 
Procedural Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Is there anything else that we need to deal with before we adjourn?  Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  I must say I am a little confused about where we are here. 

Mr. Crocker announced this morning that his witnesses wouldn't be here until tomorrow.  I thought he meant the industry representatives from the United States.  Now I understand as well that he's not -- the other panel, Dr. Sen and Mr. White, aren't here either, I gather.  So we aren't sitting this afternoon?


MS. LEA:  Pardon me.  I guess maybe I misunderstand, and you should ask Mr. Crocker but I couldn't find him.  I thought it was only one panel for AMPCO now.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is my impression.

MR. ROGERS:  Only one panel?  Oh.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  My impression is there will be one panel from AMPCO in support of its High 5 proposal, and that they will sit -- they will be available tomorrow.

MR. ROGERS:  Oh, I see.  Well, that's --


MR. BUONAGURO:  It is all four of those witnesses you spoke of.  He's just combined them into one panel.  That's my understanding.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  I am more confused than I even realized.  Well, that is unfortunate, but we will be ready to go tomorrow morning.

One other thing, sir, I can – just to tell you, that would mean we have one AMPCO panel tomorrow, and I guess the CME evidence to deal with.

I am going to take some instruction over the noon hour.  I am hopeful that we can avoid calling someone from CME.  I don't know whether people have questions of that panel.

There will be an argument about the relevance of the information and what you are going to do with it, but whether we need to bring Mr. Sharp here tomorrow, I don't know.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think there are broader enquiries on that question going forward, as to whether there are questions for Mr. Sharp.

If there are no questions for Mr. Sharp, then there would be no requirement for him to attend. 

MR. ROGERS:  I am just wondering if anyone, other than me, would have any questions for him? 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, I think that is being explored at the moment.  I don't think we have a full answer for that.

MR. ROGERS:  I see.  That's fine.

MS. LEA:  Unfortunately, I don't know.  Given counsels' multiple commitments today, I am trying to track them down.  Mr. Buonaguro, do you know yet if you have questions for Mr. Sharp?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to be out of the province in any event, but no, partly on the basis that I don't have any questions.  Mr. Janigan is actually appearing on my behalf tomorrow to do the AMPCO panel, and we have no questions for the CME panel.

MR. ROGERS:  Maybe we needn't bother the Board with this.  Perhaps I can discuss it with Ms. Lea over the lunch hour.  Whatever we decide, we will be ready to go tomorrow.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board is interested in that element, just so we know what our timing is for tomorrow, and when -- probably have some implications for when your argument can be provided, as well. 

MS. LEA:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there anything else that we need to deal with before we adjourn?  We will adjourn until tomorrow morning at 9:30.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:41 p.m.
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